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SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK 
COUNTY OF SUFFOLK 

MICHAEL G. GAYNOR, 

Petitioner, 

-against-

TOWN OF SHELTER ISLAND, MIKE BEBON, 
AMBER BRACH-WILLIAMS, ALBERT A. 
BRAYSON, MICHAEL COLES, JAMES 
COLLIGAN, JOSEPH DENNY, ROBERT J. 
DESTEFANO, JR., ALBERT DICKSON, 
KATHLEEN GERARD, GORDON GOODING, 
CHARLES KRAUS, KARIN LISSAKERS, 
DOROTHY OGAR, J. EDWARD 
SHILLINGBURG, GERRY SILLER, DEBBIE 
STRONGIN, PETER VIELBIG, and ART 
WILLIAMS, 

Respondents. 

Index No.  __________________ 

VERIFIED PETITION/COMPLAINT 

      Petitioner Michael G. Gaynor, by and through his attorneys, Kriegsman PC, as and 

for his Verified Petition/Complaint against Respondents Town of Shelter Island (the 

“Town”), Mike Bebon, Amber Brach-Williams, Albert A. Brayson, Michael Coles, 

James Colligan, Joseph Denny, Robert J. DeStefano, Jr., Albert Dickson, Kathleen 

Gerard, Gordon Gooding, Charles Kraus, Karin Lissakers, Dorothy Ogar, J. Edward 

Shillingburg, Gerry Siller, Debbie Strongin, Peter Vielbig, and Art Williams, alleges as 

follows: 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. This hybrid Article 78 proceeding and plenary action involves a Town and its

officers and employees who have engaged in a targeted campaign of harassment against 
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one of its citizens.  When that citizen sought to understand the nature of the Town’s 

animus against him, and its favorable treatment of one of his high-profile neighbors, by 

seeking information under New York State’s Freedom of Information Law (“FOIL”), the 

Town brazenly refused to comply with the law and doubled down on the harassment.   

2. Pursuant to the FOIL law, Article 6 of the Public Officers Law (“POL”), 42 

U.S.C. § 1983, and the New York State Constitution, this action seeks an order and 

judgment that:  

a. annuls the Town’s denials of the appeals of the denials of 
Petitioner’s (1) August 19, 2020 request pursuant to the FOIL (the 
“August 19 Request”); (2) August 20, 2020 FOIL request (the 
“August 20 Request”); (3) August 21, 2020 FOIL request (the 
“August 21 Request”); and (4) two August 24, 2020 FOIL requests 
(the “August 24 Requests”) (collectively, the “FOIL Requests”);  

 
b. annuls the Town’s denials of the FOIL Requests; 

 
c. directs the Town to produce all non-privileged and responsive 

documents requested by the FOIL Requests; 
 

d. enjoins the Town from taking future actions against Petitioner that 
are contrary to the Town Code, New York state law, and the 
United States Constitution; and 

 
e. awards compensatory damages, punitive damages, costs, 

disbursements, and attorney’s fees to Petitioner. 
 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 
 
3. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to CPLR Article 78.  

4. Venue is proper pursuant to CPLR § 506(b).  

PARTIES 

5. Petitioner is a New York resident who resides at 8 Cobbetts Lane, Shelter Island, 

New York.  
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6. Respondent Town is a New York municipal corporation with a clerk’s office at 38 

North Ferry Road in Shelter Island, New York. The Town is a public agency subject to 

the requirements of the FOIL, POL § 86(3). 

7. Respondent Gerry Siller is the Town Supervisor and the Town Liaison to the 

Town’s Community Preservation Fund Advisory Board (the “CPFAB”). 

8. Respondents Mike Bebon, Amber Brach-Williams, James Colligan, and Albert 

Dickson are current members of the Town Board. 

9. Respondents Albert A. Brayson, Michael Coles, Joseph Denny, Robert J. 

DeStefano, Kathleen Gerard, Gordon Gooding, Charles Kraus, Karin Lissakers, J. 

Edward Shillingburg, Debbie Strongin, Peter Vielbig, and Art Williams are past or 

current members of the CPFAB. 

10. Respondent Robert J. DeStefano, Jr. (“DeStefano”) is the Town Attorney. 

11. Dorothy Ogar is the Town Clerk. 

FACTS 

I. Shelter Island and Sylvester Manor Educational Farm. 

12. Upon information and belief, Shelter Island was purchased by the Anglo-Dutch 

slave trader Nathaniel Sylvester in 1651 and was established as the headquarters and 

provisioning plantation for his family’s international slave trading and sugarcane 

plantations in the Barbados. 

13. Upon information and belief, Eben Ostby (“Ostby”), a descendant of Mr. 

Sylvester, inherited his family’s ancestral slave plantation in 1992, which is principally 

made up of felled forest and dry prairie and is listed on the National Register of Historic 

Places. 
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14. Upon information and belief, buried on Ostby’s property at the time of his 

inheritance are the remains of over 200 African slaves and Manhassett Indians in 

unmarked and unkept graves.  

15. Upon information and belief, between 2009 and 2014, Ostby placed 240 acres of 

his property in a 501(c)(3) corporation, now named Sylvester Manor Educational Farm 

(“SMEF”), formed for the purpose of conservation and committed to preventing 

development of the land it owns. 

16. Prior to 2019, Petitioner donated $30,000.00 to SMEF to support its purported 

land preservation efforts.  

II. The Town develops a close financial relationship with SMEF. 

17. Upon information and belief, SMEF has benefited financially from the Town on 

multiple fronts. 

18. Notwithstanding the fact that SMEF is a conservation organization committed to 

preserving its land from development, upon information and belief, the Town and Suffolk 

County has transferred nearly $20,000,000.00 in taxpayer funds earmarked for properties 

that are “at risk” for development through the purchase of development rights with 

Community Preservation Fund (“CPF”) funds. 

19. Upon information and belief, the Town, Supervisor Siller, and the CPFAB have 

aggressively seen to it that millions of taxpayer-funded preservation dollars go to one 

entity – SMEF – between 2009 and 2014. 

20. Moreover, as set forth in detail below, SMEF received a substantial fee from Walt 

Disney Pictures (“Disney”) when the Town improperly allowed Disney to film without a 

permit on SMEF’s sacred lands.  
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III. The Town secretly allows Petitioner’s adjacent neighbor, SMEF, to let 
Disney film a movie on its property without a permit. 
 

21. Upon information and belief, in the summer of 2019, with the knowledge and 

cooperation of the Town, Disney secretly filmed a major motion picture, “Black Is King,” 

starring pop superstar Beyoncé Knowles-Carter (“Beyoncé”), on SMEF’s sacred lands. 

22. Upon information and belief, Disney paid SMEF a substantial fee to use its 

property as a film location. 

23. Upon information and belief, the Town also received money from Disney and 

Beyoncé in exchange for allowing the film to be kept secret. 

24. Furthermore, upon information and belief, each of SMEF’s employees and board 

members were required by Disney to sign a non-disclosure agreement assuring the 

secrecy of the film project. 

25. Upon information and belief, the Town and Town Board members were also 

required to sign non-disclosure agreements. 

26. Section 65-5(A) of the Shelter Island Town Code (the “Town Code”) provides, 

“No person shall film or permit filming within the Town of Shelter Island without first 

obtaining a major or minor filming permit from the Town Board, which permit shall set 

forth the location of such filming and the date or dates when filming shall take place.” 

27. With regard to filming permit applications, the Town requires a public session of 

the Town Board meeting where the public is allowed to comment on the merits of the 

film.  

28. Section 65-4 of the Town Code defines “mega filming” as “[a]ny filming 

involving the presence of 100 or more persons involved in the project during the term of 

the filming permit.” 
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29. Section 65-11(A) of the Town Code provides, in relevant part, “Any person or 

other entity who shall violate or fail, neglect or refuse to comply with any provision of 

this chapter shall, upon conviction thereof, be punished by a fine of not more than $2,500 

or by imprisonment for a term not exceeding 15 days, or both such fine and 

imprisonment.” 

30. But the Town Clerk confirmed on August 24, 2020 that there had been no filming 

permits issued to SMEF. A true and correct copy of the August 24, 2020 email from the 

Town Clerk to Alex Kriegsman is annexed hereto as Exhibit A. 

31. Upon information and belief, given their extremely high profiles and industry 

savvy, Disney, SMEF, and Beyoncé knew or should have known that a permit was 

required for what is defined by the Town Code as “mega filming.”   

32. In fact, in March 2019, Home Box Office, Inc. (“HBO”) pursued a permit from 

the Town Board for the film “The Undoing,” starring Nicole Kidman and Hugh Grant, 

and HBO’s request for a permit and subsequent public meeting was covered extensively 

by The Reporter and other news outlets. See, e.g., Julie Lane, HBO seeks to film on 

Island, Shelter Island Reporter, Mar. 7, 2019, available at 

https://shelterislandreporter.timesreview.com/2019/03/07/hbo-seeks-film-island/, a true 

and correct copy of which is annexed hereto as Exhibit B; Josh Duboff, Shelter Island 

Says Nope to Nicole Kidman and Hugh Grant’s New HBO Show, Vanity Fair, May 28, 

2019, available at https://www.vanityfair.com/style/2019/05/nicole-kidman-hugh-grant-

the-undoing-hbo-shelter-island-filming, a true and correct copy of which is annexed 

hereto as Exhibit C. 
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33. Upon information and belief, the Town and SMEF colluded to quietly allow 

Disney and Beyoncé to film a major motion picture on SMEF’s sacred lands without 

requiring them to go through the public permit process so as to assure the secrecy of the 

film, which is considered a highly lucrative tactic with respect to films of this nature. 

34. The story of the secret filming of “Black Is King” on Shelter Island and on 

SMEF’s land was widely reported in The New York Times, People Magazine, Vanity 

Fair, Variety, and hundreds of other news and media outlets, including Shelter Island’s 

own newspaper, The Reporter. See, e.g., Ambrose Clancy, Beyoncé filmed at Sylvester 

Manor for Disney special, Shelter Island Reporter, Aug. 13, 2020, available at 

https://shelterislandreporter.timesreview.com/2020/08/13/beyonce-at-sylvester-manor/, a 

true and correct copy of which is annexed hereto as Exhibit D; Maria Pasquini, Beyoncé 

Chose Former Slaveholding Plantation as Setting for Part of Visual Album Black Is 

King, People, Aug. 13, 2020, available at https://people.com/home/beyonce-filmed-

black-is-king-former-plantation/, a true and correct copy of which is annexed hereto as 

Exhibit E.  

35. Upon learning of this secret arrangement, Petitioner objected to both SMEF and 

the Town for allowing the filming of a movie on sacred burial grounds of former African 

slaves without a public hearing or permit. 

36. Incredibly, even after such extensive coverage by essentially every major news 

organization in the country of this knowingly illegal filming of “Black Is King,” upon 

information and belief, the Town has taken no enforcement action against SMEF, Disney, 

or Beyoncé for violating Town Code § 65-5(A). 
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37. But, as set forth below, Petitioner, who owns the property directly adjacent to 

SMEF’s property, received very different treatment from Town officials who unfairly 

targeted him with baseless actions. 

IV. Petitioner purchases the Property and faces opposition from Town residents. 

38. On or about November 21, 2018, Petitioner purchased two parcels located at 8 

Cobbetts Lane, Shelter Island, New York 11964 and 10 Cobbetts Lane, Shelter Island, 

New York 11964 (together, the “Property”). 

39. At the time of purchase, the Property consisted of two unimproved two-acre 

adjacent lots that border preserved lands to the south and north, including the land owned 

by SMEF. 

40. In preparation for construction work to build a home on the Property (the 

“Project”), Petitioner cleared some old pine trees from his Property. 

41. The cleared pines were non-native plants, in poor health and the clearing was all 

in compliance with the Town Code.   

42. Bizarrely, when Town residents learned that Petitioner had cleared the dead and 

dying trees from the Property, they sent letters of complaint to the Shelter Island Reporter 

(“The Reporter”), the Town’s only newspaper. 

43. The Reporter also ran a cartoon mocking Petitioner for cutting down the trees.  

V. The Town targets Petitioner in a harassment campaign. 

44. Taking its cues from the vocal residents opposing Petitioner’s actions, the Town 

launched a campaign of harassment against Petitioner, singling him out again and again 

for retribution. 
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45. As one example, when construction on the home was only approximately 20 

percent complete, consisting of no more than an uninhabitable shell, surrounded by mud 

and dirt, the Town issued a notice of violation accusing Petitioner of attempting to rent 

the home in violation of Town Code §§ 105-20 and 105-40.  A true and correct copy of 

the January 24, 2020 notice of violation is annexed hereto as Exhibit F. 

46. Given that the home was completely uninhabitable, Petitioner had not rented it 

out as a vacation rental at any time. 

47. In a meeting with Petitioner’s counsel on August 12, 2020, DeStefano, the Town 

Attorney, admitted that the notice of violation was without merit and agreed not to 

prosecute it.  

48. In addition, even though the Project was nowhere near completion, and a 

certificate of occupancy had not been issued, the Town re-assessed the Property with a 

137% increase. 

49. DeStefano also admitted that that re-assessment was premature and improper 

during the August 12, 2020 meeting. 

50. Furthermore, Petitioner had previously applied to the Town for a mooring permit 

pursuant to Chapter 90 of the Town Code and been placed on a “waiting list.” 

51. On or about January of 2020, the Town inappropriately removed Petitioner from a 

waiting list for a mooring permit without explanation or justification. 

52. On August 12, 2020, the Town acknowledged that Petitioner’s removal from the 

waiting list had been improper and placed him back on the list.   
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VI. The Town Unlawfully Ignores Petitioner’s FOIL Requests. 

53. On August 19, 2020, Petitioner submitted the August 19 Request, annexed hereto 

as Exhibit G, requesting, inter alia, (1) communications, including emails, text 

messages, and other electronic communications stored on public and private servers, to or 

from any past or present Town Board Member regarding sales to, purchases by, or 

applications to the CPF from January 1, 1999 to present; and (2) communications to or 

from any past or present CPFAB Member regarding sales to, purchases by, or 

applications to the CPF from January 1, 1999 to present. 

54. On August 20, 2020, Petitioner submitted the August 20 Request, annexed hereto 

as Exhibit H, requesting, inter alia, communications to or from any past or present Town 

Board member, DeStefano, and/or Gordon Gooding regarding Petitioner, Alex 

Kriegsman, 8 Cobbetts Lane or 10 Cobbetts Lane from August 7, 2020 to present. 

55. On August 21, 2020 Petitioner submitted the August 21 Request, annexed hereto 

as Exhibit I, requesting, inter alia, (1) applications from and/or permits issued to SMEF 

for filming in the Town; (2) citations issued by the Town to SMEF for failing to obtain a 

permit to film; and (3) documents regarding the purchase of land and/or development 

rights from SMEF. 

56. POL § 87(2) requires that public agencies, like the Town, make available for 

public inspection and copying all of its records, with certain exceptions not applicable to 

the documents requested in the FOIL Requests. 

57. Within five business days of the receipt of a written request for a record, the 

governmental entity must “make such record available to the person requesting it, deny 

such request in writing or furnish a written acknowledgment of the receipt of such request 
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and a statement of the approximate date, which shall be reasonable under the 

circumstances of the request, when such request will be granted or denied.” POL § 

89(3)(a). 

58. “If an agency determines to grant a request in whole or in part, and if 

circumstances prevent disclosure to the person requesting the record or records within 

twenty business days from the date of the acknowledgement of the receipt of the request, 

the agency shall state, in writing, both the reason for the inability to grant the request 

within twenty business days and a date certain within a reasonable period, depending on 

the circumstances, when the request will be granted in whole or in part.” Id.   

59. Thus, when an agency provides an acknowledgment of a record request, the 

acknowledgment “must include an approximate date within twenty business days 

indicating when it can be anticipated that a request will be granted or denied.” Committee 

on Open Government, Department of State, Explanation of Time Limits for Response 

(June 2005), http://www.dos.ny.gov/coog/explanation.html. 

60. By email dated August 24, 2018 (the “August 24 email”), the Town Clerk 

responded to the August 21 Request, stating, “There have been no filming permits issued 

to Sylvester Manor Educational Farm. Your request has been forwarded to the 

appropriate departments to gather the information requested. In addition, your two other 

requests have also been forwarded to the appropriate departments to gather the 

information requested. Thank you.” Ex. A. 

61. Upon information and belief, the “two other requests” referred to in the August 24 

email refer to the August 19 Request and the August 20 Request. 
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62. On August 24, 2020, Petitioner submitted the first of the August 24 Requests, 

annexed hereto as Exhibit J, requesting certain information, including home internet 

service providers and home internet protocol addresses, regarding each Town officer 

and/or employee who has been working from home during the coronavirus pandemic. 

63. That same day, Petitioner submitted the second of the August 24 Requests, 

annexed hereto as Exhibit K, requesting the complete financial accounting for the CPF, 

including without limitation any and all financial records and communications. 

64. The Town did not respond to the August 24 Requests. 

65. A proper response to the August 19 Request was due on August 26, 2020, but the 

Town did not provide one by that date. 

66. A proper response to the August 20 Request was due on August 27, 2020, but the 

Town did not provide one by that date. 

67. A proper response to the August 21 Request was due on August 28, 2020, but the 

Town did not provide one by that date. 

68. Proper responses to the August 24 Requests were due on August 31, 2020, but the 

Town did not provide them by that date. 

69. POL § 89(4)(a) provides that failure by an agency to conform to the provisions of 

§ 89(3) constitutes a denial.  

70. By letter dated September 1, 2020, annexed hereto as Exhibit L, Petitioner 

appealed the Town’s denial of the August 19 Request, stating his position that the August 

24 email constituted a denial under POL § 89(4)(a) because it did not grant access to the 

records, deny access in writing, or give an approximate date within twenty business days 

indicating when it could be anticipated that the request would be granted or denied. 
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71. By letter dated September 1, 2020, annexed hereto as Exhibit M, Petitioner 

appealed the Town’s denial of the August 20 Request, stating his position that the August 

24 email constituted a denial under POL § 89(4)(a) because it did not grant access to the 

records, deny access in writing, or give an approximate date within twenty business days 

indicating when it could be anticipated that the request would be granted or denied. 

72. By letter dated September 1, 2020, annexed hereto as Exhibit N, Petitioner 

appealed the Town’s denial of the August 21 Request, stating his position that the August 

24 email constituted a denial under POL § 89(4)(a) because it addressed only a portion of 

the first subpart regarding filming permits issued to SMEF. 

73. With respect to the remainder of the August 21 Request, the Town stated only, 

“Your request has been forwarded to the appropriate departments to gather the 

information requested.” 

74. Other than stating that there were no filming permits issued to SMEF, the August 

24 email did not grant access to the records, deny access in writing, or give an 

approximate date within twenty business days indicating when it could be anticipated that 

the request would be granted or denied. 

75. By letter dated September 1, 2020, annexed hereto as Exhibit O, Petitioner 

appealed the Town’s denial of the August 24 Requests, stating his position that the 

Town’s failure to timely respond constituted a denial under POL § 89(4)(a). 

76. Section 89(4)(a) of the FOIL requires an agency, within ten business days of 

receiving an appeal, to “fully explain in writing to the person requesting the record the 

reasons for further denial, or provide access to the record sought.” 

FILED: SUFFOLK COUNTY CLERK 09/22/2020 03:55 PM INDEX NO. 613512/2020

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 1 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 09/22/2020

13 of 21



	 14	

77. Thus, the Town was required to properly respond to each of the appeals of the 

denials of the FOIL Requests (the “Appeals”) by September 15, 2020, but the Town 

failed to do so. 

78. To date, the Town has not produced a single document responsive to the FOIL 

Requests and has not provided a reason for its denial. 

79. The Town’s failure to comply with POL § 89(4)(a) constituted a denial of the 

Appeals, pursuant to POL § 89(4)(b). 

80. Accordingly, this matter is now ripe for judicial determination. 

81. POL § 89(4)(c) (i) permits the award of reasonable attorney’s fees and other 

litigation costs to a person denied access who has substantially prevailed in an Article 78 

proceeding when the agency failed to respond to a request or appeal within the statutory 

time and (ii) requires the award of attorney’s fees and costs when the agency had no 

reasonable basis for denying access. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION  
For Judgment Pursuant to CPLR §§ 7801-7806  

 
82. Petitioner repeats each and every allegation of the preceding paragraphs as if set 

forth fully herein. 

83. CPLR § 7801 et seq. provides a right of action against governmental officers and 

entities that have made a determination that was arbitrary and capricious or an abuse of 

discretion. 

84. Petitioner submitted the FOIL Requests on August 19, 20, 21, and 24, 2020. 

85. The Town’s only response to the August 19 Request, the August 20 Request, and 

the August 21 Request on August 24, 2020 failed to grant access to the records, deny 

access in writing, or give an approximate date within twenty business days from the date 
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of the acknowledgement of the receipt of the request indicating when it could be 

anticipated that that request would be granted or denied within five business days of 

receipt, in violation of POL § 89(3)(a). 

86. The Town also failed to respond at all to the August 24 Requests within five 

business days of receipt. 

87. The Town’s failure to conform to the provisions of POL § 89(3) constituted a 

denial under POL § 89(4)(a). 

88. When Petitioner appealed these denials on September 1, 2020, the Town failed to 

comply with POL § 89(4)(a), which requires an agency, within ten business days of 

receiving an appeal, to “fully explain in writing to the person requesting the record the 

reasons for further denial, or provide access to the record sought.” 

89. The Town’s failure to comply with POL § 89(4)(a) constituted a denial of the 

Appeals, pursuant to POL § 89(4)(b). 

90. To date, the Town has not produced a single document responsive to the FOIL 

Requests. 

91. The Town’s denial of the FOIL Requests is arbitrary and capricious and contrary 

to law because the Town has failed to provide a reasonable justification for its non-

disclosure of the requested documents. 

92. The FOIL plainly directs government entities like the Town to make available for 

public inspection and copying all of their records, with the exception of certain records 

not applicable here. 
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93. There is no basis whatsoever under the FOIL for the Town to undertake 

prolonged delays and refuse to provide the documents because each of the exceptions set 

forth in POL § 87(2) is inapplicable to the requested documents. 

94. Petitioner has exhausted his administrative remedies when he appealed each of 

the Town’s denials of the FOIL Requests on September 1, 2020, and the Town failed to 

properly respond within ten business days, pursuant to POL § 89(4)(a), which constituted 

a denial of the Appeals, pursuant to POL § 89(4)(b). 

95. Petitioner has no other remedy at law. 

96. No previous application has been made for the relief sought herein.  

97. An order to show cause is sought in this action. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION  
Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983  

 
98. Petitioner repeats each and every allegation of the preceding paragraphs as if set 

forth fully herein. 

99. Respondent Town committed acts, under color of law and pursuant to accepted 

municipal policy, practice, custom and procedure, with the intent and purpose of 

depriving Petitioner of rights secured by the Constitution and laws of the United States. 

100. Specifically, the Town violated Petitioner’s rights under the Fourteenth 

Amendment of the United States Constitution, depriving him of equal protection of the 

laws and due process of law. 

101. The Town’s conduct in (1) issuing a meritless violation of the vacation rental law 

when the home was completely uninhabitable and no such rental had occurred, (2) 

selectively and improperly re-assessing the Property before construction was complete, 

and (3) removing him from the waiting list for a mooring permit without explanation or 
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justification constituted egregious official conduct and gross abuse of governmental 

authority. 

102. Petitioner has a right to use and enjoy his Property free from illegal, unreasonable, 

and arbitrary governmental impositions. 

103. As acknowledged by the Town Attorney himself, the Town had no legitimate 

governmental interest, rational basis, or legal justification for its illegal actions against 

the Property but instead was motivated entirely by political concerns and animus against 

Petitioner. 

104. Furthermore, the Town singled out Petitioner for unfair treatment with malevolent 

intent and out of sheer vindictiveness. The Town was improperly motivated by a desire to 

appease Town residents and punish Petitioner for what it perceived to be unpopular 

actions by Petitioner in cutting down trees on the Property. 

105. In pursuing blatantly illegal and meritless actions against Petitioner, the Town 

acted with a malicious and bad faith intent to injure Petitioner and had no rational basis 

for such selective treatment. 

106. Meanwhile, adjacent and similarly situated property owners, including SMEF, 

were not targeted by the Town but were instead given preferential treatment. 

107. Indeed, the Town actively colluded with SMEF in its flouting of Town Code 

provisions when the Town allowed SMEF to contract with Disney to film a major motion 

picture on SMEF’s property without a permit. 

108. As a direct and proximate result of the Town’s violations of Petitioner’s 

constitutional rights, Petitioner has suffered substantial damages, including without 
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limitation diminished property value, professional fees, permit fees, loss of use and 

occupancy, litigation expenses, and attorney’s fees.  

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION  
Violation of New York State Constitution Art. I, § 11 

 
109. Petitioner repeats each and every allegation of the preceding paragraphs as if set 

forth fully herein. 

110. Respondent Town committed acts, under color of law and pursuant to accepted 

municipal policy, practice, custom and procedure, with the intent and purpose of 

depriving Petitioner of rights secured by the New York State Constitution. 

111. Specifically, the Town violated Petitioner’s rights under Article I, Section 11 of 

the New York State Constitution, depriving him of equal protection of the laws. 

112. The Town’s conduct in (1) issuing a meritless violation of the vacation rental law 

when the home was completely uninhabitable and no such rental had occurred, (2) 

selectively and improperly re-assessing the Property before construction was complete, 

and (3) removing him from the waiting list for a mooring permit without explanation or 

justification constituted egregious official conduct and gross abuse of governmental 

authority. 

113. Petitioner has a right to use and enjoy his Property free from illegal, unreasonable, 

and arbitrary governmental impositions. 

114. As acknowledged by the Town Attorney himself, the Town had no legitimate 

governmental interest, rational basis, or legal justification for its illegal actions against 

the Property but instead was motivated entirely by political concerns and animus against 

Petitioner. 
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115. Furthermore, the Town singled out Petitioner for unfair treatment with malevolent 

intent and out of sheer vindictiveness. The Town was improperly motivated by a desire to 

appease Town residents and punish Petitioner for what it perceived to be unpopular 

actions by Petitioner in cutting down trees on the Property. 

116. In pursuing blatantly illegal and meritless actions against Petitioner, the Town 

acted with a malicious and bad faith intent to injure Petitioner and had no rational basis 

for such selective treatment. 

117. Meanwhile, adjacent and similarly situated property owners, including SMEF, 

were not targeted by the Town but were instead given preferential treatment. 

118. Indeed, the Town actively colluded with SMEF in its flouting of Town Code 

provisions when the Town allowed SMEF to contract with Disney to film a major motion 

picture on SMEF’s property without a permit. 

119. As a direct and proximate result of the Town’s violations of Petitioner’s 

constitutional rights, Petitioner has suffered substantial damages, including without 

limitation diminished property value, professional fees, permit fees, loss of use and 

occupancy, litigation expenses, and attorney’s fees.  

WHEREFORE, Petitioner respectfully requests a final judgment be made and 

entered herein (1) annulling the Town’s denials of the Appeals; (2) annulling the Town’s 

denials of the FOIL Requests; (3) directing the Town to comply with its duty under the 

FOIL to produce all non-privileged and responsive documents requested by the FOIL 

Requests, including email communications in the private email accounts of members of 

the Town Board and the CPFAB pertaining to official agency business; (4) enjoining the 

Town from taking future actions against Petitioner that are contrary to the Town Code, 
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New York state law, and the United States Constitution; (5) awarding Petitioner 

compensatory and punitive damages, costs, disbursements, and attorney’s fees as allowed 

under POL § 89(4)(c) and 42 U.S.C. § 1988(b); and (6) granting Petitioner such other and 

further relief as this Court deems just and proper.  

 
Dated: Sag Harbor, New York 

September 22, 2020  
       
       Respectfully submitted, 
         
       KRIEGSMAN PC 
 
      By: _s/ Alex Kriegsman__________ 
       Alex Kriegsman 
       279 Main Street 
       Sag Harbor, NY 11963 
       (631) 899-4826 
       (631) 919-5182 (fax) 
       alex@kriegsmanpc.com 
 
       Attorneys for Petitioner 
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EXHIBIT A 



From: Town Clerk townclerk@shelterislandtown.us
Subject: RE: 8.21.20 FOIL

Date: August 24, 2020 at 10:17 AM
To: Alex Kriegsman alex@KRIEGSMANPC.COM
Cc: Katy Frank katy@KRIEGSMANPC.COM, Robert DeStefano rdestefano@shelterislandtown.us, Gaynor@gmail.com

There%have%been%no%filming%permits%issued%to%Sylvester%Manor%Educa:onal%Farm.%%Your%request%has
been%forwarded%to%the%appropriate%departments%to%gather%the%informa:on%requested.
In%addi:on,%your%two%other%requests%have%also%been%forwarded%to%the%appropriate%departments%to
gather%the%informa:on%requested.
Thank%you.
%

mailto:Clerktownclerk@shelterislandtown.us
mailto:Clerktownclerk@shelterislandtown.us
mailto:Kriegsmanalex@KRIEGSMANPC.COM
mailto:Kriegsmanalex@KRIEGSMANPC.COM
mailto:Frankkaty@KRIEGSMANPC.COM
mailto:Frankkaty@KRIEGSMANPC.COM
mailto:DeStefanordestefano@shelterislandtown.us
mailto:DeStefanordestefano@shelterislandtown.us
mailto:Gaynor@gmail.com


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

EXHIBIT B 



03.07.2019 FEATURED STORY





TAGS

“THE UNDOING", HBO, HUGH GRANT, JOHN D'AMATO, NICOLE KIDMAN, TOWN CLERK DOROTHY OGAR, WATERWAYS MANAGEMENT ADVISORY COMMITTEE



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

EXHIBIT C 



W

G I M M E  S H E LT E R

Shelter Island Says Nope to Nicole Kidman and Hugh Grant’s
New HBO Show

HBO asked for a three-day shoot? The island’s council was not into it.

B Y  J O S H  D U B O F F

MAY 28 ,  20 19

ell, the summer is just officially underway, and we already have our first Summer Destination
Locals vs. Flashy Outsiders feud—an annual event for so many vacation spots in the New York
environs.

This time, we have a classic Filming Dispute. Hollywood actors—with a major premium cable network behind them—
want to film their project in Lush, Vacation Destination. And you can likely predict exactly what will perturb those who
live year-round in said destination, as they ask to be left alone.

BY JOSE  PEREZ/BAUER-GRIFF IN .



Page Six—the bible for these sorts of Hamptons-adjacent conflicts—reports that some Shelter Island locals were not
thrilled by a request from HBO to film its upcoming series The Undoing, which stars Nicole Kidman and Hugh
Grant, on the “exclusive enclave,” which is located on the eastern end of Long Island and which counts about 2,500
people as full-time residents.

Linda Perkins, the location scout for the show, reached out to the Shelter Island town council, asking if they could
film there for three days in May, but the response she got was “grumpy faces,” according to Page Six. Curiously, the
outlet calls out by name the one town council member who was on board: “The only one who gave her a warm welcome
was Gary Gerth, the town supervisor, who said, ‘We’re excited’ . . . [But] others were worried about noise from a
helicopter scene, and late-night filming causing disruption.”

Per Page Six’s description, the intrusion to the island day-to-day life was minimal. The series was asking for a three-
day shoot, and would have needed “an old summer house,” and to film a “scene with a helicopter that involves an
arrest.” (The helicopter would not have landed on the island.) Perkins had said about 80 to 100 cast and crew members
would be working on the island and “planned to use all the local restaurants, hotels, and rentals.” But the Shelter
Island council expressed concerns about “light noise” from the night shoot, and displeasure at the $15,000 filming fee.
And others on the council cited the possibility of the filming situation becoming a “whole mess.”

In the end, the council was told by one of its members, “They didn’t pick us. They didn’t want us.” (Page Six quotes a
local who says that “people are annoyed” at this loss of a potential three-day boon to the local economy.)

If we had been negotiating on behalf of the show, we would have thrown in a promise that Kidman would Instagram—
in her trademark whimsical, exuberant style—from various Shelter Island establishments. The council, we believe,
would not have been able to resist.

Get 1 year for $15.
Join now



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

EXHIBIT D 



08.13.2020 AROUND THE ISLAND





TAGS

DONNAMARIE BARNES, PREMIUM, SYLVESTER MANOR



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

EXHIBIT E 



Beyoncé Chose Former Slaveholding Plantation as
Setting for Part of Visual Album Black Is King
“Beyoncé and her dancers performing on the land of the manor paid tribute to the

ancestors of Sylvester Manor, invoking their spirits and celebrating their heritage,” said

the home's curator and archivist in a press release

By Maria Pasquini

August 13, 2020 02:27 PM

Beyoncé made a powerful statement when selecting �lming locations for Black Is
King.

Part of her recently released visual album, a project that celebrates and pays homage
to the Black experience, was �lmed at Sylvester Manor Educational Farm, a former
slaveholding plantation in New York.

“Beyoncé and her dancers performing on the land of the manor paid tribute to the
ancestors of Sylvester Manor, invoking their spirits and celebrating their heritage,”
Sylvester Manor Curator and Archivist Donnamarie Barnes said in a press release.

The release states: “We are proud that Sylvester Manor is a part of the national
conversation and thank Beyoncé and her team at Parkwood Entertainment for
selecting our historic location to be a part of her exceptional �lm.”

RELATED: All of Beyoncé's Must-See Style Moments from Her New Visual Album
Black Is King

Once ground where Native Americans hunted, �shed and farmed, the location where
the manor now sits was taken by European settlers in the 1650s. Over the years the
property was “transformed from a slaveholding provisioning plantation to an
Enlightenment-era farm, then to a pioneering food industrialist’s estate and today to
an organic educational farm,” according to the press release.

It also notes, “The lens through which the public understands historic places of
enslavement of African people is shifting, and we’re working hard to unearth and



share the stories of the Indigenous native Manhansetts, the European settlers and

the enslaved Africans brought to Shelter Island against their will."

The manor also released a “statement of solidarity” amid the ongoing global Black

Lives Matter movement for equality and justice.

“Sylvester Manor’s role in the history of racial injustice and slavery is always at the

forefront of our minds,” the statement read, noting that the land was taken by

Europeans ”from the Manhansetts, who’d been here for millennia.”

The manor was founded in the 1650s as a “provisioning plantation for sugarcane

plantations,” and the existing manor house was built by enslaved Africans and

indentured servants in 1735. Their descendants continued to work on the plantation

until slavery was abolished in New York in 1827.

“Like many historic sites in this country, the historic record of Sylvester Manor

re�ects a predominately white, privileged culture. In most cases all we know of the

enslaved are their names,” the statement read “So much work lies ahead and we are

determined to learn more about these individuals and to give their lives agency. We

are committed to revealing narratives that re�ect the institutional inequities that

have existed for hundreds of years.”

“In these days of heightened awareness of racial injustice, so long overdue, we

believe that learning and sharing the events of our nation’s history, as they are

embodied at Sylvester Manor, will guide us in the present and show us the way

forward to a more just future,” the statement continued.

Beyoncé released Black is King on Disney+ on July 31, as a visual accompaniment to

her 2019 Lion King: The Gift album. The one-and-a-half-hour creation offers fans an

ornate and uplifting trip through Africa's gorgeous landscape and culture, with the

singer as their guide. There are also numerous starry cameos including her daughter

Blue Ivy, 8, twins Rumi and Sir, 3, husband JAY-Z, Naomi Campbell, Pharrell, Jessie

Reyez, Lupita Nyong'o, Tiwa Savage, Tierra Whack and many other Black and African

actors and Afrobeats stars.

RELATED: Beyoncé Recognized for Humanitarian Work at BET Awards: 'Please

Continue to Be the Change'



As the description for the new �lm states, the visual album "reimagines the lessons
of The Lion King for today's young kings and queens in search of their own crowns."
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EXHIBIT G 



Town Clerk 's Office

See attached Schedule A.

August 19, 2020

279 Main Street, Sag Harbor, NY 11963 

alex@kriegsmanpc.com631-919-5182

X

Michael Gaynor        

c/o Kriegsman PC 

631-899-4826



Schedule A 
 

1. All communications including without limitation emails, text messages, and other 
electronic communications stored on public and private servers, by, between, to, or from 
any past or present Town Board Member regarding sales to, purchases by, applications 
to, suggested or proposed sales to or purchases by the Community Preservation Fund 
from January 1, 1999 to December 31, 2009. 
 

2. All communications including without limitation emails, text messages, and other 
electronic communications stored on public and private servers, by, between, to, or from 
any past or present Town Board Member regarding sales to, purchases by, applications 
to, suggested or proposed sales to or purchases by the Community Preservation Fund 
from January 1, 2010 to present. 
 

3. All communications including without limitation emails, text messages, and other 
electronic communications stored on public and private servers, by, between, to, or from 
any past or present Community Preservation Fund Advisory Board Member regarding 
sales to, purchases by, applications to, suggested or proposed sales to or purchases by the 
Community Preservation Fund from January 1, 1999 to December 31, 2009. 
 

4. All communications including without limitation emails, text messages, and other 
electronic communications stored on public and private servers, by, between, to, or from 
any past or present Community Preservation Fund Advisory Board Member regarding 
sales to, purchases by, applications to, suggested or proposed sales to or purchases by the 
Community Preservation Fund from January 1, 2010 to present. 
 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

EXHIBIT H 



Town Clerk 's Office

See attached Schedule A.

August 20, 2020

279 Main Street, Sag Harbor, NY 11963 

alex@kriegsmanpc.com631-919-5182

X

Michael Gaynor        

c/o Kriegsman PC 

631-899-4826



Schedule A 
 

1. All communications including without limitation emails, text messages, and other 
electronic communications stored on public and private servers, by, between, among, to, 
or from any past or present Town Board Member, Town Attorney Robert J. DeStefano, 
Jr. and/or Gordon Gooding regarding Michael Gaynor, Alex Kriegsman, 8 Cobbetts Lane 
or 10 Cobbetts Lane from August 7, 2020 to present. 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

EXHIBIT I 



Town Clerk 's Office

See attached Schedule A.

August 21, 2020

279 Main Street, Sag Harbor, NY 11963 

alex@kriegsmanpc.com631-919-5182

X

Michael Gaynor        

c/o Kriegsman PC 

631-899-4826



Schedule A 
 

1. Any and all applications from and/or permits issued to Sylvester Manor Educational 
Farm for filming in the Town of Shelter Island. 
 

2. Any and all citations issued by the Town of Shelter Island to the Sylvester Manor 
Educational Farm for failing to obtain a permit to film. 

 
3. Any and all documents, applications, communications and correspondence including 

without limitation emails, text messages, and other electronic communications stored on 
public and private servers regarding the purchase of land and/or development rights from 
the Sylvester Manor Educational Farm.  

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

EXHIBIT J 



Town Clerk 's Office

See attached Schedule A.

August 24, 2020

279 Main Street, Sag Harbor, NY 11963 

alex@kriegsmanpc.com631-919-5182

X

Michael Gaynor        

c/o Kriegsman PC 

631-899-4826



Schedule A 
 
According to the Town of Shelter Island’s Coronavirus Response, Emergency Management 
Protocol, certain officers and employees have been working from home during the Pandemic.  

 
1. For each officer and/or employee that has worked from home, please provide:  

 
a. first and last name; 

 
b. home address; 

 
c. home internet service provider (eg. Optimum, Verizon, etc.); 

 
d. work and personal email addresses; 

 
e. home telephone number and cell phone number; and 

 
f. home internet protocol (IP) addresses. 

 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

EXHIBIT K 



Town Clerk 's Office

See attached Schedule A.

August 24, 2020

279 Main Street, Sag Harbor, NY 11963 

alex@kriegsmanpc.com631-919-5182

X

Michael Gaynor        

c/o Kriegsman PC 

631-899-4826



Schedule A 
 

Please provide the complete financial accounting for the Town of Shelter Island Community 
Preservation Fund (“CPF”), including without limitation any and all financial records and 
communications. These records should include, without limitation:  
  

A. All documents and communications including emails stored on public and private servers 
(“Communications”) regarding funds received; 
 

B. All documents and Communications regarding purchases made with CPF funds, 
including without limitation, parcels or development rights purchased, amount paid, 
contracts of sale, negotiations regarding purchases, appraisals; 

 
C. All documents and communications regarding offers to purchase, investigations, or 

potential purchases; 
 

D. Minutes and transcripts from every Community Preservation Fund Advisory Board 
meeting; and 

 
E. Complete accounting for CPF funds received, including bank records and Quickbooks 

accounting. 
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279 Main Street 
Sag Harbor, NY 11963 
631-899-4826 
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September 1, 2020 

VIA EMAIL 
 
Dorothy S. Ogar 
Town Clerk and Freedom of Information Officer 
Town of Shelter Island 
38 North Ferry Road 
P.O. Box 1549 
Shelter Island, NY 11964 
townclerk@shelterislandtown.us 
 

Re: August 19, 2020 FOIL Request -- APPEAL 

Dear Ms. Ogar: 

On August 19, 2020, we submitted a Freedom of Information Law (“FOIL”) request on behalf 
of our client, Michael Gaynor (the “August 19 request”). By email dated August 24, 2020 (the “August 
24 email”), you appeared to acknowledge receipt of the August 19 request but addressed only a part of 
another FOIL request by Mr. Gaynor. Your response with respect to the August 19 request consisted 
solely of the sentence, “In addition, your two other requests have also been forwarded to the 
appropriate departments to gather the information requested.”   

The August 24 email constitutes a denial under FOIL § 89(4)(a). FOIL § 89(3)(a) provides that 
within five business days of the receipt of a written request for a record, an agency “shall make such 
record available to the person requesting it, deny such request in writing or furnish a written 
acknowledgment of the receipt of such request and a statement of the approximate date, which shall be 
reasonable under the circumstances of the request, when such request will be granted or denied. … If 
an agency determines to grant a request in whole or in part, and if circumstances prevent disclosure to 
the person requesting the record or records within twenty business days from the date of the 
acknowledgement of the receipt of the request, the agency shall state, in writing, both the reason for the 
inability to grant the request within twenty business days and a date certain within a reasonable period, 
depending on the circumstances, when the request will be granted in whole or in part.” 

Thus, when an agency provides an acknowledgment of a record request, the acknowledgment 
“must include an approximate date within twenty business days indicating when it can be anticipated 
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that a request will be granted or denied.” Committee on Open Government, Department of State, 
Explanation of Time Limits for Response (June 2005), https://www.dos.ny.gov/coog/explanation.html.  

The August 24 email did not grant access to the records, deny access in writing, or give an 
approximate date within twenty business days indicating when it can be anticipated that the August 19 
request will be granted or denied. A proper response to the August 19 request was due on August 26, 
2020, but you did not provide one by that date. FOIL § 89(4)(a) provides that failure by an agency to 
conform to the provisions of § 89(3) shall constitute a denial. Accordingly, pursuant to  FOIL § 
89(4)(a), I am writing to appeal the denial for the reasons set forth above. 

  

       Very truly yours, 

       KRIEGSMAN PC 

       s/ Alex Kriegsman 

       Alex Kriegsman 
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September 1, 2020 

VIA EMAIL 
 
Dorothy S. Ogar 
Town Clerk and Freedom of Information Officer 
Town of Shelter Island 
38 North Ferry Road 
P.O. Box 1549 
Shelter Island, NY 11964 
townclerk@shelterislandtown.us 
 

Re: August 20, 2020 FOIL Request -- APPEAL 

Dear Ms. Ogar: 

On August 20, 2020, we submitted a Freedom of Information Law (“FOIL”) request on behalf 
of our client, Michael Gaynor (the “August 20 request”). By email dated August 24, 2020 (the “August 
24 email”), you appeared to acknowledge receipt of the August 20 request but addressed only a part of 
another FOIL request by Mr. Gaynor. Your response with respect to the August 20 request consisted 
solely of the sentence, “In addition, your two other requests have also been forwarded to the 
appropriate departments to gather the information requested.”   

The August 24 email constitutes a denial under FOIL § 89(4)(a). FOIL § 89(3)(a) provides that 
within five business days of the receipt of a written request for a record, an agency “shall make such 
record available to the person requesting it, deny such request in writing or furnish a written 
acknowledgment of the receipt of such request and a statement of the approximate date, which shall be 
reasonable under the circumstances of the request, when such request will be granted or denied. … If 
an agency determines to grant a request in whole or in part, and if circumstances prevent disclosure to 
the person requesting the record or records within twenty business days from the date of the 
acknowledgement of the receipt of the request, the agency shall state, in writing, both the reason for the 
inability to grant the request within twenty business days and a date certain within a reasonable period, 
depending on the circumstances, when the request will be granted in whole or in part.” 

Thus, when an agency provides an acknowledgment of a record request, the acknowledgment 
“must include an approximate date within twenty business days indicating when it can be anticipated 
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that a request will be granted or denied.” Committee on Open Government, Department of State, 
Explanation of Time Limits for Response (June 2005), https://www.dos.ny.gov/coog/explanation.html.  

The August 24 email did not grant access to the records, deny access in writing, or give an 
approximate date within twenty business days indicating when it can be anticipated that the August 20 
request will be granted or denied. A proper response to the August 20 request was due on August 27, 
2020, but you did not provide one by that date. FOIL § 89(4)(a) provides that failure by an agency to 
conform to the provisions of § 89(3) shall constitute a denial. Accordingly, pursuant to  FOIL § 
89(4)(a), I am writing to appeal the denial for the reasons set forth above. 

  

       Very truly yours, 

       KRIEGSMAN PC 

       s/ Alex Kriegsman 

       Alex Kriegsman 
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September 1, 2020 

VIA EMAIL 
 
Dorothy S. Ogar 
Town Clerk and Freedom of Information Officer 
Town of Shelter Island 
38 North Ferry Road 
P.O. Box 1549 
Shelter Island, NY 11964 
townclerk@shelterislandtown.us 
 

Re: August 21, 2020 FOIL Request -- APPEAL 

Dear Ms. Ogar: 

On August 21, 2020, we submitted a Freedom of Information Law (“FOIL”) request on behalf 
of our client, Michael Gaynor (the “August 21 request”). The August 21 request had three subparts, 
requesting “(1) Any and all applications from and/or permits issued to Sylvester Manor Educational 
Farm for filming in the Town of Shelter Island; (2) Any and all citations issued by the Town of Shelter 
Island to the Sylvester Manor Educational Farm for failing to obtain a permit to film; (3) Any and all 
documents, applications, communications and correspondence including without limitation emails, text 
messages, and other electronic communications stored on public and private servers regarding the 
purchase of land and/or development rights from the Sylvester Manor Educational Farm.” 

By email dated August 24, 2020 (the “August 24 email”), you acknowledged receipt of the 
August 21 request but specifically addressed only a portion of the first subpart, stating, “There have 
been no filming permits issued to Sylvester Manor Educational Farm.” Your response with respect to 
the remainder of the August 21 request consisted solely of the sentence, “Your request has been 
forwarded to the appropriate departments to gather the information requested.”   

The August 24 email constitutes a denial under FOIL § 89(4)(a). FOIL § 89(3)(a) provides that 
within five business days of the receipt of a written request for a record, an agency “shall make such 
record available to the person requesting it, deny such request in writing or furnish a written 
acknowledgment of the receipt of such request and a statement of the approximate date, which shall be 
reasonable under the circumstances of the request, when such request will be granted or denied. … If 
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an agency determines to grant a request in whole or in part, and if circumstances prevent disclosure to 
the person requesting the record or records within twenty business days from the date of the 
acknowledgement of the receipt of the request, the agency shall state, in writing, both the reason for the 
inability to grant the request within twenty business days and a date certain within a reasonable period, 
depending on the circumstances, when the request will be granted in whole or in part.” 

Thus, when an agency provides an acknowledgment of a record request, the acknowledgment 
“must include an approximate date within twenty business days indicating when it can be anticipated 
that a request will be granted or denied.” Committee on Open Government, Department of State, 
Explanation of Time Limits for Response (June 2005), https://www.dos.ny.gov/coog/explanation.html.  

Other than stating that there were no filming permits issued to Sylvester Manor Educational 
Farm, the August 24 email did not grant access to the records, deny access in writing, or give an 
approximate date within twenty business days indicating when it can be anticipated that the August 21 
request will be granted or denied. A proper response to the August 21 request was due on August 28, 
2020, but you did not provide one by that date. FOIL § 89(4)(a) provides that failure by an agency to 
conform to the provisions of § 89(3) shall constitute a denial. Accordingly, pursuant to  FOIL § 
89(4)(a), I am writing to appeal the denial for the reasons set forth above. 

  

       Very truly yours, 

       KRIEGSMAN PC 

       s/ Alex Kriegsman 

       Alex Kriegsman 
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September 1, 2020 

VIA EMAIL 
 
Dorothy S. Ogar 
Town Clerk and Freedom of Information Officer 
Town of Shelter Island 
38 North Ferry Road 
P.O. Box 1549 
Shelter Island, NY 11964 
townclerk@shelterislandtown.us 
 

Re: August 24, 2020 FOIL Requests -- APPEAL 

Dear Ms. Ogar: 

On August 24, 2020, we submitted two Freedom of Information Law (“FOIL”) requests on 
behalf of our client, Michael Gaynor (the “August 24 requests”). The Town of Shelter Island did not 
respond to the August 24 requests by August 31, and this failure to timely respond constitutes a denial 
under FOIL § 89(4)(a).    

FOIL § 89(3)(a) provides that within five business days of the receipt of a written request for a 
record, an agency “shall make such record available to the person requesting it, deny such request in 
writing or furnish a written acknowledgment of the receipt of such request and a statement of the 
approximate date, which shall be reasonable under the circumstances of the request, when such request 
will be granted or denied.”  

A proper response to the August 24 request was due on August 31, 2020, but you did not 
provide one by that date. FOIL § 89(4)(a) provides that failure by an agency to conform to the 
provisions of § 89(3) shall constitute a denial. Accordingly, pursuant to  FOIL § 89(4)(a), I am writing 
to appeal the denial for the reasons set forth above. 

  

       Very truly yours, 

       KRIEGSMAN PC 
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631-899-4826 
alex@kriegsmanpc.com 
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       s/ Alex Kriegsman 

       Alex Kriegsman 

 



At IAS Part __ of the Supreme Court 
of the State of New York, County of 
Suffolk, at the courthouse located at 1 
Court Street, Room _____, Riverhead, 
New York on the _____ day of 
September, 2020. 
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SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK  
COUNTY OF SUFFOLK 
 
 

 
MICHAEL G. GAYNOR, 
 

Petitioner,  
 

-against- 
 

TOWN OF SHELTER ISLAND, MIKE BEBON, 
AMBER BRACH-WILLIAMS, ALBERT A. 
BRAYSON, MICHAEL COLES, JAMES 
COLLIGAN, JOSEPH DENNY, ROBERT J. 
DESTEFANO, JR., ALBERT DICKSON, 
KATHLEEN GERARD, GORDON GOODING, 
CHARLES KRAUS, KARIN LISSAKERS, 
DOROTHY OGAR, J. EDWARD 
SHILLINGBURG, GERRY SILLER, DEBBIE 
STRONGIN, PETER VIELBIG, and ART 
WILLIAMS, 
 

Respondents. 
 

 
Index No.  __________________ 
 
ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE 
 

 
 
UPON reading and filing the annexed Petitioner’s Verified Petition/Complaint 

with exhibits herein, and upon due deliberation and sufficient cause shown, 

LET Respondents Town of Shelter Island (the “Town”), Mike Bebon, Amber 

Brach-Williams, Albert A. Brayson, Michael Coles, James Colligan, Joseph Denny, 

Robert J. DeStefano, Jr., Albert Dickson, Kathleen Gerard, Gordon Gooding, Charles 

Kraus, Michael Laspia, Karin Lissakers, J. Edward Shillingburg, Gerry Siller, Debbie 

Strongin, Peter Vielbig, and Art Williams show cause before this Court on 

___________________, 2020, at ____ a.m./p.m., or as soon thereafter as counsel can be 



At IAS Part __ of the Supreme Court 
of the State of New York, County of 
Suffolk, at the courthouse located at 1 
Court Street, Room _____, Riverhead, 
New York on the _____ day of 
September, 2020. 

	

	 2	

heard, at ________ Part ___ of the Supreme Court of the State of New York, at the 

Courthouse located at 1 Court Street, Riverhead, New York, why an Order should not be 

entered herein (1) annulling the Town’s denials of the appeals of the denials of the 

Petitioner’s requests pursuant to the New York Freedom of Information Law submitted 

on August 19, 2020, August 20, 2020, August 21, 2020, and August 24, 2020 (the “FOIL 

Requests”); (2) annulling the Town’s denials of the FOIL Requests; (3) directing the 

Town to produce all non-privileged and responsive documents requested by the FOIL 

Requests, including email communications in the private email accounts of members of 

the Town Board and the Town’s Community Preservation Fund Advisory Board 

pertaining to official agency business; (4) enjoining the Town from taking future actions 

against Petitioner that are contrary to the Town Code, New York state law, and the 

United States Constitution; (5) awarding Petitioner compensatory and punitive damages, 

costs, disbursements, and attorney’s fees as allowed under POL § 89(4)(c) and 42 U.S.C. 

§ 1988(b); and (6) granting Petitioner such other and further relief as this Court deems 

just and proper. 

SUFFICENT reason appearing therefor, let delivery of copies of this Order and 

the papers annexed hereto, by hand or overnight courier, to Respondents or their 

attorneys by _______________, 2020; delivery of Respondents’ answering papers, if 

any, to Petitioner’s attorneys, Kriegsman PC, 279 Main Street, Sag Harbor, NY 11963, so 

as to be received by them on or before ______________, 2020; and delivery of 

Petitioner’s reply papers, if any, to Respondents or their attorneys by hand or overnight 



At IAS Part __ of the Supreme Court 
of the State of New York, County of 
Suffolk, at the courthouse located at 1 
Court Street, Room _____, Riverhead, 
New York on the _____ day of 
September, 2020. 
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courier, on or before _______________, 2020; be deemed good and sufficient service 

hereof and thereof. 

       
 
 
ENTER: 
 
     
 _____________________________________   
  J.S.C. 
 



TOWN OF SHELTER ISLAND, MIKE BEBON, AMBER BRACH-WILLIAMS, ALBERT A. BRAYSON, MICHAEL COLES, JAMES
COLLIGAN, JOSEPH DENNY, ROBERT J. DESTEFANO JR., ALBERT DICKSON, KATHLEEN GERARD, GORDON GOODING,
CHARLES KRAUS, KARIN LISSAKERS, DOROTHY OGAR, J. EDWARD SHILLINGBURG, GERRY SILLER, DEBBIE
STRONGIN,...

MICHAEL G. GAYNOR

REQUEST FOR JUDICIAL INTERVENTION
Suffolk Supreme COURT, COUNTY OF Suffolk

UCS-840

Index No: Date Index Issued: For Court Use Only:

IAS Entry Date

Judge Assigned

RJI Filed Date

CAPTION Enter the complete case caption. Do not use et al or et ano. If more space is needed, attach a caption rider sheet.

Plaintiff(s)/Petitioner(s)

Defendant(s)/Respondent(s)

-against-

(rev. 07/29/2019)

NATURE OF ACTION OR PROCEEDING: Check only one box and specify where indicated.

OTHER MATTERS

TORTS

COMMERCIAL

SPECIAL PROCEEDINGS

STATUS OF ACTION OR PROCEEDING: Answer YES or NO for every question and enter additional information where indicated.

If yes, date filed:

If yes, date served:

If yes, judgment date:

Has a summons and complaint or summons with notice been filed?

Has a summons and complaint or summons with notice been served?

Is this action/proceeding being filed post-judgment?

YES NO

☐ ☒
☐ ☒
☐ ☒

☐
☐
☐
☐
☐
☐
☐
☐
☐

Asbestos
Child Victims Act
Environmental (specify):
Medical, Dental, or Podiatric Malpractice
Motor Vehicle
Products Liability (specify):
Other Negligence (specify):
Other Professional Malpractice (specify):
Other Tort (specify):

☐ Certificate of Incorporation/Dissolution     [see NOTE in COMMERCIAL section]

☐ Emergency Medical Treatment

☐ Habeas Corpus

☐ Local Court Appeal

☐ Mechanic's Lien

☐ Name Change

☐ Pistol Permit Revocation Hearing

☐ Sale or Finance of Religious/Not-for-Profit Property

☐ Other (specify):

☐ Business Entity (includes corporations, partnerships, LLCs, LLPs, etc.)

☐ Contract

☐ Insurance (where insurance company is a party, except arbitration)

☐ UCC (includes sales and negotiable instruments)

☐ Other Commercial (specify):

NOTE: For Commercial Division assignment requests pursuant to 22 NYCRR 202.70(d),
complete and attach the COMMERCIAL DIVISION RJI ADDENDUM (UCS-840C).

☐ CPLR Article 75 (Arbitration)     [see NOTE in COMMERCIAL section]

☒ CPLR Article 78 (Body or Officer)

☐ Election Law

☐ MHL Article 9.60 (Kendra's Law)

☐ MHL Article 10 (Sex Offender Confinement-Initial)

☐ MHL Article 10 (Sex Offender Confinement-Review)

☐ MHL Article 81 (Guardianship)

☐ Other Mental Hygiene (specify):
Other Special Proceeding (specify):☐

☐ Extreme Risk Protection Order

MATRIMONIAL
☐ Contested

NOTE: If there are children under the age of 18, complete and attach the
MATRIMONIAL RJI Addendum (UCS-840M).

REAL PROPERTY: Specify how many properties the application includes:

☐ Condemnation

☐ Mortgage Foreclosure (specify): ☐ Residential Commercial☐
Property Address:

NOTE: For Mortgage Foreclosure actions involving a one to four-family, owner-
occupied residential property or owner-occupied condominium, complete and
attach the FORECLOSURE RJI ADDENDUM (UCS-840F).

Tax Certiorari - Section:☐ Block: Lot:
Tax Foreclosure☐

☐ Other Real Property (specify):

For Uncontested Matrimonial actions, use the Uncontested Divorce RJI (UD-13).

Check one box only and enter additional information where indicated.NATURE OF JUDICIAL INTERVENTION:
☐

☐
☐
☐
☐

☐
☒

☐
☐
☐
☐
☐

Infant's Compromise

Note of Issue/Certificate of Readiness

Notice of Medical, Dental, or Podiatric Malpractice

Notice of Motion

Notice of Petition

Order to Show Cause

Other Ex Parte Application

Poor Person Application

Request for Preliminary Conference

Residential Mortgage Foreclosure Settlement Conference

Writ of Habeas Corpus

Other (specify):

Date Issue Joined:

Relief Requested:

Relief Requested:

Relief Requested:

Relief Requested:

Article 78 (Body or Officer)

Return Date:

Return Date:

Return Date:

Extreme Risk Protection Order Application☐
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Case Title Index/Case Number Court Judge (if assigned) Relationship to instant case

RELATED CASES: List any related actions. For Matrimonial cases, list any related criminal or Family Court cases. If none, leave blank. If additional space
is required, complete and attach the RJI Addendum (UCS-840A).

PARTIES: For parties without an attorney, check the "Un-Rep" box and enter the party's address, phone number and email in the space
provided. If additional space is required, complete and attach the RJI Addendum (UCS-840A).

Un-
Rep List parties in same order as listed in the

caption and indicate roles (e.g., plaintiff,
defendant; 3rd party plaintiff, etc.)

For represented parties, provide attorney's name, firm name, address, phone
and email.  For unrepresented parties, provide party's address, phone and
email.

For each defendant,
indicate if issue has
been joined.

For each defendant,
indicate insurance
carrier, if applicable.

Parties Attorneys and/or Unrepresented Litigants Issue Joined Insurance

Name: GAYNOR, MICHAEL G.☐ ALEX KRIEGSMAN, Kriegsman PC, 279 Main Street , Sag
Harbor, NY  11963, 631-899-4826,
alex@kriegsmanpc.comRole(s): Plaintiff/Petitioner

☒  YES   ☐  NO

Name: TOWN OF SHELTER ISLAND☒ 38 North Ferry Road, Shelter Island, NY  11964

Role(s): Defendant/Respondent
☐  YES   ☒  NO

Name: BEBON, MIKE☒ 5 Merkel Lane, Shelter Island, NY  11964

Role(s): Defendant/Respondent
☐  YES   ☒  NO

Name: BRACH-WILLIAMS, AMBER☒ 50 N Ferry Road, Shelter Island, NY  11964

Role(s): Defendant/Respondent
☐  YES   ☒  NO

Name: BRAYSON, ALBERT A.☒ 1 Hudson Avenue, Shelter Island, NY  11964

Role(s): Defendant/Respondent
☐  YES   ☒  NO

Name: COLES, MICHAEL☒
Role(s): Defendant/Respondent

☐  YES   ☒  NO

Name: COLLIGAN, JAMES☒ 71 Peconic Avenue, Shelter Island, NY  11964

Role(s): Defendant/Respondent
☐  YES   ☒  NO

Name: DENNY, JOSEPH☒ 1 Jaspa Road, Shelter Island, NY  11964

Role(s): Defendant/Respondent
☐  YES   ☒  NO

Name: DESTEFANO JR., ROBERT J.☒ 13 Dinah Rock Road, Shelter Island, NY  11964

Role(s): Defendant/Respondent
☐  YES   ☒  NO

Name: DICKSON, ALBERT☒ 1 Freds Lane, Shelter Island, NY  11964

Role(s): Defendant/Respondent
☐  YES   ☒  NO

I AFFIRM UNDER THE PENALTY OF PERJURY THAT, UPON INFORMATION AND BELIEF, THERE ARE NO OTHER  RELATED ACTIONS OR
PROCEEDINGS, EXCEPT AS NOTED ABOVE, NOR HAS A REQUEST FOR JUDICIAL INTERVENTION BEEN PREVIOUSLY FILED IN THIS

ACTION OR PROCEEDING.

Attorney Registration Number Print Name

Signature

Dated: 09/22/2020

3905502 ALEX KRIEGSMAN

ALEX KRIEGSMAN

This form was generated by NYSCEF
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Caption Rider Sheet

VS.

TOWN OF SHELTER ISLAND, MIKE BEBON, AMBER BRACH-WILLIAMS, ALBERT A. BRAYSON, MICHAEL COLES, JAMES
COLLIGAN, JOSEPH DENNY, ROBERT J. DESTEFANO JR., ALBERT DICKSON, KATHLEEN GERARD, GORDON GOODING,
CHARLES KRAUS, KARIN LISSAKERS, DOROTHY OGAR, J. EDWARD SHILLINGBURG, GERRY SILLER, DEBBIE STRONGIN,
PETER VIELBIG, ART WILLIAMS

Plaintiff(s)/Petitioner(s)

Defendant(s)/Respondent(s)

INDEX NO. 613512/2020

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 18 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 09/22/2020
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Request for Judicial Intervention Addendum

Index No:

UCS-840A (7/2012)

Suffolk Supreme COURT, COUNTY OF Suffolk

Un-
Rep List parties in same order as listed in the

caption and indicate roles (e.g., plaintiff,
defendant; 3rd party plaintiff, etc.)

For represented parties, provide attorney's name, firm name, address, phone
and email.  For unrepresented parties, provide party's address, phone and
email.

For each defendant,
indicate if issue has
been joined.

For each defendant,
indicate insurance
carrier, if applicable.

Parties Attorneys and/or Unrepresented Litigants Issue Joined Insurance

Name: GERARD, KATHLEEN☒ 23 N Midway, Shelter Island, NY  11964

Role(s): Defendant/Respondent
☐  YES   ☒  NO

Name: GOODING, GORDON☒ 15 Dinah Rock Road, Shelter Island, NY  11964

Role(s): Defendant/Respondent
☐  YES   ☒  NO

Name: KRAUS, CHARLES☒ 22 Stearns Point Road, Shelter Island, NY  11964

Role(s): Defendant/Respondent
☐  YES   ☒  NO

Name: LISSAKERS, KARIN☒
Role(s): Defendant/Respondent

☐  YES   ☒  NO

Name: OGAR, DOROTHY☒ 6 Bateman Road, Shelter Island, NY  11964

Role(s): Defendant/Respondent
☐  YES   ☒  NO

Name: SHILLINGBURG, J. EDWARD☒ 4 West Neck Road, Shelter Island, NY  11964

Role(s): Defendant/Respondent
☐  YES   ☒  NO

Name: SILLER, GERRY☒ 158 Ferry Road, Shelter Island, NY  11964

Role(s): Defendant/Respondent
☐  YES   ☒  NO

Name: STRONGIN, DEBBIE☒ 56D Peconic Avenue, Shelter Island, NY  11964

Role(s): Defendant/Respondent
☐  YES   ☒  NO

Name: VIELBIG, PETER☒ 3 Cobbetts Lane, Shelter Island, NY  11964

Role(s): Defendant/Respondent
☐  YES   ☒  NO

Name: WILLIAMS, ART☒ 21 Baldwin Road, Shelter Island, NY  11964

Role(s): Defendant/Respondent
☐  YES   ☒  NO

For use when additional space is needed to provide party or related case information.

PARTIES: For parties without an attorney, check "Un-Rep" box AND enter party address, phone number and e-mail address in "Attorneys" space.

RELATED CASES: List any related actions. For Matrimonial actions, include any related criminal and/or Famiy Court cases.

This form was generated by NYSCEF
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SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

COUNTY OF 
------------------------------------------------------------------x

Plaintiff/Petitioner, 

- against - Index No.  

         
         

Defendant/Respondent.
------------------------------------------------------------------x

NOTICE OF ELECTRONIC FILING
(Consensual Case)

 (Uniform Rule § 202.5-b)

You have received this Notice because:

1) The Plaintiff/Petitioner, whose name is listed above, has filed this case using the
New York State Courts E-filing system (“NYSCEF”), and

2) You are a Defendant/Respondent (a party) in this case.

 ! If you are represented by an attorney:  
    Give this Notice to your attorney.  (Attorneys: see “Information for Attorneys” pg. 2).

 ! If you are not represented by an attorney: 
    You will be served with all documents in paper and you must serve and file your  
    documents in paper, unless you choose to participate in e-filing.

    If you choose to participate in e-filing, you must have access to a computer and a 
    scanner or other device to convert documents into electronic format, a connection 
   to the internet, and an e-mail address to receive service of documents.

   The benefits of participating in e-filing include:
 

! serving and filing your documents electronically

! free access to view and print your e-filed documents

! limiting your number of trips to the courthouse

! paying any court fees on-line (credit card needed)

To register for e-filing or for more information about how e-filing works:

!  visit: www.nycourts.gov/efile-unrepresented or
! contact the Clerk’s Office or Help Center at the court where the case was filed. Court    
   contact information can be found at www.nycourts.gov

Page 1  of  2 EF-3

http://www.nycourts.gov/efile-unrepresented
http://www.nycourts.gov


www.nycourthelp.gov

   

  
 

  
www.nycourts.gov/efile

   

 
www.nycourts.gov/efile 

 

Dated:  

     
Name

Address
   

Firm Name

 
Phone

E-Mail

To:
 

   

Index   # Page 2  of 2  

________________________________

________________________________

_______________________________

______________________________

_______________________________

NYSCEF website at or contact the NYSCEF Resource Center 
For additional information about electronic filing and to create a NYSCEF account, visit the 

declination of consent.
Attorneys declining to consent must file with the court and serve on all parties of record a 

password prior to recording their consent by going to
participate in e-filing must first create a NYSCEF account and obtain a user ID and 
provided at the NYSCEF site. Attorneys not registered with NYSCEF but intending to 
Attorneys registered with NYSCEF may record their consent electronically in the manner 

decline consent to electronic filing and service through NYSCEF for this case.
An attorney representing a party who is served with this notice must either consent or 

Information for Attorneys

To find legal information to help you represent yourself visit

EF-3

2/24/20

(phone: 646-386-3033; e-mail: nyscef@nycourts.gov).

http://www.nycourthelp.gov
http://www.nycourts.gov/efile
http://www.nycourts.gov/efile
mailto:efile@nycourts.gov
http://www.nycourts.gov/efile
mailto:efile@nycourts.gov
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